

Senate Bill No. 92—Senators Lee, Hardy, Heck, Beers, Cegavske,
Care, Coffin, McGinness and Woodhouse

Joint Sponsors: Assemblymen Anderson, Parks, Gansert, Allen,
Mortenson, Beers, Bobzien, Christensen, Claborn, Denis,
Goicochea, Grady, Hardy, Koivisto, Manendo, Marvel,
Ohrenschall, Settelmeyer and Stewart

CHAPTER.....

AN ACT relating to firearms; revising certain provisions pertaining
to the regulation of firearms by local governments; and
providing other matters properly relating thereto.

Legislative Counsel's Digest:

Assembly Bill No. 147 of the 1989 Legislative Session (Chapter 308, Statutes of Nevada 1989, p. 653) reserved for the Legislature the rights and powers necessary to regulate the transfer, sale, purchase, possession, ownership, transportation, registration and licensing of firearms and ammunition in this State. However, **section 5** of Assembly Bill No. 147 provided that the preemptive effect of the bill applied only to ordinances or regulations adopted by local governments on or after June 13, 1989. This bill requires the amendment of ordinances or regulations adopted by local governments before June 13, 1989, that require registration of a firearm capable of being concealed to impose: (1) a period of at least 60 days of residency in the jurisdiction before registration of such a firearm is required; and (2) a period of at least 72 hours for the registration of a pistol by a resident of the jurisdiction upon transfer of title to the pistol to the resident by purchase, gift or any other transfer.

For the purposes of the amendatory provisions of this bill relating to the registration of firearms, and for the purposes of the authority of local governments to proscribe the unsafe discharge of firearms, this bill revises the definition of "firearm" to use the more narrow definition set forth in NRS 202.253, pursuant to which a firearm is a device designed to be used as a weapon from which a projectile may be expelled through the barrel by the force of any explosion or other form of combustion. For the purposes of state preemption of the local regulation of firearms, this bill retains the broader definition of "firearm" already used in NRS 244.364, 268.418 and 269.222, pursuant to which a firearm is any weapon from which a projectile is discharged by means of an explosive, spring, gas, air or other force.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, REPRESENTED IN
SENATE AND ASSEMBLY, DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. NRS 244.364 is hereby amended to read as follows:
244.364 1. Except as otherwise provided by specific statute, the Legislature reserves for itself such rights and powers as are necessary to regulate the transfer, sale, purchase, possession, ownership, transportation, registration and licensing of firearms and ammunition in Nevada, and no county may infringe upon those



rights and powers. *As used in this subsection, "firearm" means any weapon from which a projectile is discharged by means of an explosive, spring, gas, air or other force.*

2. A board of county commissioners may proscribe by ordinance or regulation the unsafe discharge of firearms.

3. *If a board of county commissioners in a county whose population is 400,000 or more has required by ordinance or regulation adopted before June 13, 1989, the registration of a firearm capable of being concealed, the board of county commissioners shall amend such an ordinance or regulation to require:*

(a) *A period of at least 60 days of residency in the county before registration of such a firearm is required.*

(b) *A period of at least 72 hours for the registration of a pistol by a resident of the county upon transfer of title to the pistol to the resident by purchase, gift or any other transfer.*

4. ~~[As]~~ *Except as otherwise provided in subsection 1, as used in this section ~~["firearm"]~~:*

(a) *"Firearm" means any device designed to be used as a weapon from which a projectile ~~is discharged by means of an explosive, spring, gas, air or other force.~~ may be expelled through the barrel by the force of any explosion or other form of combustion.*

(b) *"Firearm capable of being concealed" includes all firearms having a barrel less than 12 inches in length.*

(c) *"Pistol" means a firearm capable of being concealed that is intended to be aimed and fired with one hand.*

Sec. 2. NRS 268.418 is hereby amended to read as follows:

268.418 1. Except as otherwise provided by specific statute, the Legislature reserves for itself such rights and powers as are necessary to regulate the transfer, sale, purchase, possession, ownership, transportation, registration and licensing of firearms and ammunition in Nevada, and no city may infringe upon those rights and powers. *As used in this subsection, "firearm" means any weapon from which a projectile is discharged by means of an explosive, spring, gas, air or other force.*

2. The governing body of a city may proscribe by ordinance or regulation the unsafe discharge of firearms.

3. *If the governing body of a city in a county whose population is 400,000 or more has required by ordinance or regulation adopted before June 13, 1989, the registration of a firearm capable of being concealed, the governing body shall amend such an ordinance or regulation to require:*



(a) A period of at least 60 days of residency in the city before registration of such a firearm is required.

(b) A period of at least 72 hours for the registration of a pistol by a resident of the city upon transfer of title to the pistol to the resident by purchase, gift or any other transfer.

4. ~~[As]~~ *Except as otherwise provided in subsection 1, as used in this section ~~[, “firearm”]:~~*

(a) “Firearm” means any device designed to be used as a weapon from which a projectile ~~[is discharged by means of an explosive, spring, gas, air or other force.] may be expelled through the barrel by the force of any explosion or other form of combustion.~~

(b) “Firearm capable of being concealed” includes all firearms having a barrel less than 12 inches in length.

(c) “Pistol” means a firearm capable of being concealed that is intended to be aimed and fired with one hand.

Sec. 3. NRS 269.222 is hereby amended to read as follows:

269.222 1. Except as otherwise provided by specific statute, the Legislature reserves for itself such rights and powers as are necessary to regulate the transfer, sale, purchase, possession, ownership, transportation, registration and licensing of firearms and ammunition in Nevada, and no town may infringe upon those rights and powers. *As used in this subsection, “firearm” means any weapon from which a projectile is discharged by means of an explosive, spring, gas, air or other force.*

2. A town board may proscribe by ordinance or regulation the unsafe discharge of firearms.

3. *If a town board in a county whose population is 400,000 or more has required by ordinance or regulation adopted before June 13, 1989, the registration of a firearm capable of being concealed, the town board shall amend such an ordinance or regulation to require:*

(a) A period of at least 60 days of residency in the town before registration of such a firearm is required.

(b) A period of at least 72 hours for the registration of a pistol by a resident of the town upon transfer of title to the pistol to the resident by purchase, gift or any other transfer.

4. ~~[As]~~ *Except as otherwise provided in subsection 1, as used in this section ~~[, “firearm”]:~~*

(a) “Firearm” means any device designed to be used as a weapon from which a projectile ~~[is discharged by means of an explosive, spring, gas, air or other force.] may be expelled through~~



the barrel by the force of any explosion or other form of combustion.

(b) "Firearm capable of being concealed" includes all firearms having a barrel less than 12 inches in length.

(c) "Pistol" means a firearm capable of being concealed that is intended to be aimed and fired with one hand.

Sec. 4. Section 5 of chapter 308, Statutes of Nevada 1989, at page 653, is hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 5. ~~[The]~~

1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, the provisions of this act apply ~~[only]~~ to ordinances or regulations adopted on or after ~~[the effective date of this act.]~~ June 13, 1989.

2. The provisions of this act, as amended on October 1, 2007, apply to ordinances or regulations adopted before, on or after June 13, 1989.

Sec. 5. A board of county commissioners, governing body of a city and town board in a county whose population is 400,000 or more shall amend any ordinance or regulation adopted by that body before June 13, 1989, that does not conform with the provisions of NRS 244.364, as amended by section 1 of this act, NRS 268.418, as amended by section 2 of this act or NRS 269.222, as amended by section 3 of this act, as applicable, by January 1, 2008. Any ordinance or regulation that does not comply with the applicable provision by January 1, 2008, shall be deemed to conform with that provision by operation of law.

